Theses & Dissertations

Boston University Theses & Dissertations

2021

How in-U.S. Chinese college sudents consume Covid-19 information on social media: examining the relationship between media credibility and media dependency

https://hdl.handle.net/2144/42615

Boston University

BOSTON UNIVERSITY COLLEGE OF COMMUNICATION

Thesis

HOW IN-U.S. CHINESE COLLEGE STUDENTS CONSUME COVID-19 INFORMATION ON SOCIAL MEDIA: EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MEDIA CREDIBILITY AND MEDIA DEPENDENCY

by

SIYU LIU

B.A., Nanjing University, 2000

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts

Approved by

E:4 D 1	
First Reader	Lei Guo, Ph.D.
	Assistant Professor of Emerging Media Studies
Second Reader	
	Chris Wells, Ph.D.
	Associate Professor of Emerging Media Studies

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Throughout the writing of this thesis, I have received a great deal of support. I would like to pay my special regards to my instructor and supervisor, Dr. Lei Guo, who serves as the first reader for this thesis. She convincingly guided and encouraged me to pursue my academic goals during my whole master's study period. Her expertise and consideration were invaluable in formulating the research questions and methodology. Her insightful feedback and her persistent help pushed me to sharpen my thinking and brought this work to a higher level. I would also like to extend my deepest gratitude to Dr. Chris Wells, who serves as the second reader. His courses and research inspired and attracted me strongly to conduct more research in this field. His detailed feedback for my previous work and this thesis helped me to hone my research abilities and deepen my thinking. I am extremely grateful to all other professors in the Emerging Media Studies (EMS) program, Dr. James Cummings, Dr. Kelsey Prena, and Dr. James Katz. They provided me with the necessary tools that I needed to successfully complete my thesis.

Thanks should also go to my families who supported my studying at Boston University financially and spiritually. They kept me going on through ups and downs and this work would not have been possible without their input. Especially helpful to me during this time were my friends in EMS, Skylar Lei, Yiyan Zhang, and Tiffany Wang, who gave me a lot of encouragement and substantially helped with this thesis by answering my questions and providing suggestions generously and patiently. I would like to recognize the invaluable assistance that you all provided during my study.

HOW IN-U.S. CHINESE COLLEGE STUDENTS CONSUME COVID-19 INFORMATION ON SOCIAL MEDIA: EXAMINING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN MEDIA CREDIBILITY AND MEDIA DEPENDENCY SIYU LIU

ABSTRACT

In the 2019/2020 academic year, around 370,000 Chinese students studied at U.S. colleges and universities. During the COVID-19 pandemic, social media serve as an important channel for in-U.S. Chinese college students to learn about the pandemicrelated news and information in both China and the United States. However, due to the wide circulation of misinformation on social media and the censored Chinese media system, the question remains whether in-U.S. Chinese students trust the social media platforms and information sources they depend on. This thesis seeks to answer this question by drawing upon the literature about media credibility and the Media System Dependency theory. Specifically, the study examines whether in-U.S. Chinese college students' media dependency level can positively predict their perceived credibility level of different social media platforms and information sources within the platforms when consuming news related to COVID-19. Based on an online survey, this thesis found that in-U.S. Chinese students still depended mostly on WeChat, a Chinese social media platform, and perceived it most credible for consuming both Chinese and U.S. COVID-19 information. Despite their experience staying in the U.S., the Chinese students also largely depended on and trusted Chinese governmental and mainstream news media

sources within the social media. In addition, media dependency levels could positively predict the perceived credibility level of all social media platforms and information sources. That is, in-U.S. Chinese students tend to trust the media and information sources they depend on. Theoretically, this thesis extends the previous literature about media dependency and credibility to social media and public health crisis contexts, further considering the different features and affordances of various social media platforms.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iv
ABSTRACT	v
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vii
LIST OF TABLES	ix
Introduction	1
Media Credibility: From Traditional Media to Social Media	7
Medium, Source, and Content Credibility	7
Medium Credibility	8
Source Credibility	9
Credibility Change Over Time	9
Credibility on Social Media	11
Media Dependency and Its Relationship with Media Credibility	14
The Relationship Between Media Dependency and Media Credibility	17
Context Matter: Public Health Crisis and Chinese Media Environment	21
Public Health Crisis	21
Cultural Differences in Media Credibility and Dependency	21
Chinese Media Environment and in-U.S. Chinese Student	22
Method	25
Data Collection and Respondents	25
Social Media Platforms	26
Information Sources on Social Media	27

Measurements	30
Social Media Credibility	30
Social Media Dependency for Information	31
Control Variables	31
Data Analysis	32
Results	34
Dependency and Credibility Levels of Social Media Platforms	34
Dependency and Credibility Levels of Information Sources	39
Relationship between Dependency and Credibility Levels	45
Discussion	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
CURRICULUM VITAE	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Descriptive Overview. 29–30
Table 2. Credibility Measurements of Social Media Platforms for U.S. COVID-19
Information Mean Scores
Table 3. Credibility Measurements of Social Media Platforms for Chinese COVID-19
Information Mean Scores
Table 4. Credibility of WeChat Versus other Social Media Platforms for U.S. COVID-19
Information
Table 5. Dependency Measurements of Social Media Platforms for U.S. COVID-19
Information Mean Scores
Table 6. Dependency Measurements of Social Media Platforms for Chinese COVID-19
Information Mean Scores
Table 7. Dependency of WeChat Versus other Social Media Platforms for U.S. COVID-
19 Information
Table 8. Dependency Measurements of Information Sources for Chinese COVID-19
Information Mean Scores
Table 9. Dependency of Chinese Governmental Sources Versus Other Information
Sources on Social Media for Chinese COVID-19 Information
Table 10. Dependency of Chinese Mainstream News Media Versus Other Information
Sources on Social Media for Chinese COVID-19 Information
Table 11. Credibility Measurements of Information Sources for Chinese COVID-19
Information Mean Scores

Table 12. Credibility of Chinese Governmental Sources Versus Other Information
Sources on Social Media for Chinese COVID-19 Information
Table 13. Credibility of Chinese Mainstream News Media Versus Other Information
Sources on Social Media for Chinese COVID-19 Information
Table 14. Hierarchical Regressions of Predictors of Social Media Credibility for Chinese
COVID-19 Information
Table 15. Hierarchical Regressions of Predictors of Social Media Credibility for U.S.
COVID-19 Information
Table 16. Hierarchical Regressions of Predictors of Information Sources Credibility for
Chinese COVID-19 Information

Introduction

Social media have become important for information activities beyond social networking, including interpersonal communication, group discussions, and mass media content (Kim et al., 2019). Studies have shown the power of social media in transmitting information from different content creators to users, especially in emergencies, such as political uprisings and public health crises. Compared to traditional media and web-based online media, social media enable users to access information from multiple sources on different platforms on-demand without any time or space restrictions (Maxian, 2014). Many studies have been conducted to figure out how and why users consume information from social media. It has been found that the way people consume health-related information online also has changed from web search engines and specialized healthcare platforms to social media platforms (De Choudhury et al., 2014; Li et al., 2018).

COVID-19, also known as coronavirus disease, is a fatal pandemic and is an ongoing public health crisis concerning people from West to East. According to the World Health Organization, until October 28 in 2020, there have already been more than 44 million confirmed cases worldwide, and about 1.17 million people have died from it (World Health Organization, n.d.). The pandemic initially broke out in Wuhan, China in December 2019, and it then spread worldwide, especially in the U.S. There is a famous saying on the Chinese internet, that "Chinese fight in the first half of battling against the pandemic, the Western people fight in the second half, while Chinese overseas students have to fight in the full court." This study focuses on in-U.S. Chinese students. In 2019, nearly 400,000 Chinese overseas students were in the U.S., making up the largest part of

international students in the U.S. (The Institute of International Education, 2020) and more than half among 700,000 Chinese students studying broad (Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China, 2020). Far away from their homes and restricted in traveling, most Chinese overseas students in the U.S. are not only concerned about the epidemic situations in their homeland but also have an urgent need to obtain information about the situations in their residential locations in the U.S. COVID-19 information, including but not limited to cases in different countries, the transmitting mechanism of the virus, governmental policies, safety measures, its impacts in individual life and society, and vaccine or medicine development, can be essential to satisfy their various needs for understanding the situation, keep healthy and help their families in China. Social media can be an important channel for Chinese overseas students in the U.S. to learn about domestic and U.S. pandemic information for the following reasons: first, some traditional Chinese media, such as Chinese TV programs and newspapers, are not easily accessible for Chinese overseas students; second, young adults have widely used social media for information consumption in China (China Internet Network Information Center [CNNIC], 2017) and the U.S. (Shearer & Matsa, 2018); third, many Chinese and U.S. government departments and mainstream news media are also using social media platforms to publish COVID-19 information (The State Information Center & Nanjing University Computer-mediated Communication Research Center, 2020).

However, two major problems might influence social media users' trust in some information sources or social media platforms. First, some vital information in such public health crises is controlled by very few people, who are authorities and experts in

Chinese society (Tai & Sun, 2007; Wang et al., 2020; Zhang & Zhang, 2020). The public's attitudes to these information sources may vary. In the Chinese media system, structural barriers, such as information censorship and lack of transparency, may hinder the free information flow and cause delay, ambiguity, and confusion (Tai & Sun, 2007). It has been criticized by Chinese netizens and some U.S. mainstream news media that the unresponsiveness of the local government in the early stages of the crisis by covering up critical information, silencing whistleblowers, keeping the expert groups in the dark, and playing down the threat, has led to the disease becoming an epidemic and pandemic (Chen, 2020; Yang, 2020; Yuan, 2020). Compared to people in mainland China, in-U.S. Chinese students have a higher possibility of being exposed to these blaming opinions due to Chinese governmental information and media regulations. They may not trust the information from government and mainstream media sources. In this condition when people found the vital information sources from the government and mass media were not reliable, some netizens may choose to become information producers and disseminators on social media (Tai & Sun, 2007). This point introduces the second problem, which is the circulation of misinformation in social media. Social media enable and facilitate users to produce and disseminate information at a very low cost, but also bring the risks of relatively low-quality user-generated content and lack of professional gatekeepers to monitor the information (Li & Suh, 2015; Viviani & Pasi, 2017). Some scholars have identified the problem of misinformation and fake news in COVID-19 on Chinese and U.S. social media (Pennycook et al., 2020; Pulido et al., 2020; Rodríguez et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2020).

As a result, the question arises whether the social media users, who depend on social media platforms to consume COVID-19 information from various sources, really trust the platforms or sources? How do China's unique media and information ecology influence their dependency and trust in different Chinese information sources on social media? Are there any differences in their attitudes towards different social media platforms from China and the U.S.?

To answer these questions, the media credibility literature and Media System Dependency (MSD) theory can provide two proper approaches to better understand people's media use in this pandemic. Perceived media credibility can be generally conceptualized as the extent to which users evaluate and judge the information or media as believable or trustworthy (Li & Suh, 2015; Strömbäck et al., 2020). It is a strong predictor of information reader's further actions (McKnight & Kacmar, 2006), and potentially of political engagement or health preventive actions. MSD is a critical theory examining information consumption during social changes, conflicts, or instability (Ball-Rokeach & DeFleur, 1976; Tai & Sun, 2007). The theory investigates the interrelations of social systems, mass media, and individual users. Specifically, it hypothesizes that the more an individual depends on mass media, the more important and impactful mass media are to the individual (Ball-Rokeach & DeFleur, 1976). The relationship between media dependency and perceived media credibility has been widely tested in different media environments (e.g., Deley & Dubois, 2020; Jackob, 2010; T. J. Johnson & Kaye, 2004; T. Johnson & Kaye, 2010). However, it is still waiting to be further investigated in the social media and public health crisis context. The situation of COVID-19

communication in China can well exemplify people's heavy media dependency because of the high confusion and ambiguity of information in the public health crisis in China and people's desperate need for information about the disease (Tai & Sun, 2007). In-U.S. Chinese students, who have more social media platform choices and have more chances to be exposed to different voices about the Chinese government, could be an appropriate group to examine the differences among Chinese and U.S. social media platforms and Chinese information sources.

This thesis uses an online survey to examine the relationship between social media dependency level and credibility level among in-U.S. Chinese college students on different social media and information sources. Five U.S. social media platforms are used most often for news consumption in the U.S.: Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, YouTube, and Reddit (Shearer & Matsa, 2018). Two most widely used Chinese social media platforms are WeChat and Weibo, with 1.15 billion monthly active users in September 2019 (2019 WeChat Data Report, 2020) and 550 million (Weibo 2020 Fiscal First-Quarter Results Published, 2020) in March 2020, respectively. The survey focuses on in-U.S. Chinese students' news consumption from these seven social media platforms. It also investigates how the respondents used information sources on social media platforms, including governmental sources, non-governmental organizations, mainstream news media, local news media, opinion leaders, and friends/connected people.

The main research question is the extent to which in-U.S. Chinese college students' dependency on social media to consume COVID-19 information could positively predict the perceived credibility of different social media platforms and

Chinese information sources. Doing so, this thesis aims to make contributions in three ways. First, it explores the relationship between media dependency and credibility in the social media context. Second, it attempts to explore the differences in dependency levels and credibility levels in various social media platforms and information sources on social media. Third, most other relevant studies have focused on political news and presidential elections (e.g., Johnson & Kaye, 2010; Mackay & Lowrey, 2011; Ognyanova & Ball-Rokeach, 2015), but COVID-19 provides researchers with an important case to examine information consumption about a widely-concerned public health issue.

Media Credibility: From Traditional Media to Social Media

In explicating media credibility, Hovland and his colleagues (1953) empirically examined how different source characteristics could influence media users' attitudes on different issues. Media credibility is closely related to media trust, and in some studies, trust is identified as a dimension of media credibility (Kiousis, 2001; Meyer, 1988; Tsfati & Ariely, 2014). Go et al. (2016) concluded that regarding a medium as credible is the reason for a user's trust-building. To measure credibility level, Hovland et al. (1953) identified two components of source credibility—expertise and trustworthiness—and more components are complemented by following studies of some other scholars. For example, Gaziano and McGrath (1986) and Meyer (1988) assessed news credibility with five scales: fair, unbiased, telling the whole story, accurate, and trustworthy. Although there is no established unified media credibility measurement, media credibility has been widely used in many articles to measure the extent to which users trust certain information (e.g., Chung et al., 2012; Flanagin & Metzger, 2000; Go et al., 2016; Johnson & Kaye, 2004, 2010, 2014, 2016; Kiousis, 2001).

Medium, Source, and Content Credibility

As media is such a broad concept, scholars have distinguished medium, source, and content/message credibility considering the information diffusion process. Fogg and Tseng (1999) illustrated that the perceived credibility of information receivers is composed of multiple dimensions, and the measurement should involve the source of the message, the structure, and content of the message, and the medium entity, such as newspaper, television, and the internet. Early research on media credibility is about the

influence of source credibility on the interpersonal persuasion process. Later, with more media choices, researchers have also developed interests in message credibility and medium credibility (Metzger et al., 2003). Studies have shown an intricate interaction of source and content of information affecting users' credibility judgments (Metzger & Flanagin, 2013). It is more common in relevant research to distinguish between source and medium credibility (e.g., Kiousis, 2001; Mackay & Lowrey, 2011). This study will also follow this tradition to examine the differences in credibility levels among different social media platforms and information sources.

Medium Credibility

Medium credibility evaluates the overall credibility of certain media entities, such as television and newspapers in the traditional media environment (Gaziano & McGrath, 1986) and different types of internet sites in the digital media environment (Flanagin & Metzger, 2000; Mackay & Lowrey, 2011). Some early studies compared the perceived credibility between the internet and other traditional media (e.g., Flanagin & Metzger, 2000; Johnson & Kaye, 1998, 2000; Kiousis, 2001). However, with the rapid growth of online website and application genres, more studies have turned to research the credibility of different internet platforms, such as news media website, forum, and social networking site (e.g., Johnson & Kaye, 2014, 2015; Metzger et al., 2003; Metzger & Flanagin, 2013). Chung et al. (2012) have empirically demonstrated that users' perceptions of the credibility of online media differ based on media's different technological affordances.

Source Credibility

Source credibility focuses on communicators' expertise and trustworthiness to construct the message, rating their likelihood of providing credible information (Hovland et al., 1953; Li & Suh, 2015). The communicator can be both a person or an organization, and in the traditional media environment, users would usually judge these sources based on the communicator's identity or reputation (Viviani & Pasi, 2017). Although the online information sources cannot always be identified as in traditional media indicators, Sundar (2008) suggested that source credibility is crucial in online information as credibility judgment primarily rests upon the sources. Some scholars have found that source credibility in online media might differ because of its organizational affiliation and users' media use motivations, such as for entertainment and for news consumption purposes (Greer, 2003; Johnson & Kaye, 2015), which will be further discussed in the following sections.

Credibility Change Over Time

In the traditional media environment, the medium and source choices were relatively limited, and the construction and dissemination of information were processed by experts with professional training and experiences as gatekeepers. As such, media credibility could be rated by observable and verifiable credentials of information producers to a large extent (Metzger & Flanagin, 2013). However, traditional media have suffered from declining credibility with the rising number of more new information and communication technologies (ICTs) serving as alternative information sources since mid-1990 (Strömbäck et al., 2020). New ICTs and the internet, without gatekeeping processes

as the traditional media, were found to be at least as credible as traditional media in their early phase at the end of 1990s and the beginning of 2000s in some studies (Flanagin & Metzger, 2000; Johnson & Kaye, 1998, 2000; Pew Research Center, 2005). However, Kiousis (2001) found that people were skeptical of whether the information came from traditional media or the internet. It has also been found that internet credibility dramatically increased from 1996 to 2000 (Abdulla et al., 2004; Bucy, 2003; Johnson & Kaye, 2002). Among all online news sources, many researchers have found that blogs, especially non-journalist blogs, were judged more credible than traditional news sources and other online sources, as blogs are often lack-attach with mainstream media or institutions, which allow bloggers to write more in-depth and unbiased messages transparently (Banning & Sweetser, 2007; Johnson & Kaye, 2004; Mackay & Lowrey, 2011; Scoble & Israel, 2006).

However, general internet credibility decreased in the mid-2000s after the internet developed rapidly for several years (Flanagin & Metzger, 2000; Johnson & Kaye, 2004). With the growing popularity of the internet and ICTs, the multiplicity of information sources and the proliferation of information load have caused information abundance or overload, as well as lowering the cost of information production and dissemination (Metzger & Flanagin, 2013). Some characteristics of the internet, including anonymity, the lack of clarity of the context, and the lack of professional gatekeeping, enable anyone to post information to the internet with no need of considering about the information being complete, accurate, or unbiased (Johnson & Kaye, 2004; Viviani & Pasi, 2017). This could lead to the problem that fake news, disinformation, and misinformation have

been rife in the public media sphere than ever (Johnson & Kaye, 2004; Strömbäck et al., 2020). In the Digital Future report by the Center for the Digital Future in 2011, only 40 percent of U.S. internet users said that most or all of information online is reliable, compared to 58 percent in 2001.

Credibility on Social Media

In the Web 2.0 era, social media have become a major channel for information consumption. Based on mobile devices and the internet, social media take the form of blogs, social networking sites, forums, microblogs, video-sharing, review sites, and so on (Viviani & Pasi, 2017). Social media are designed to be a highly interactive platform for harnessing collective intelligence (Westerman et al., 2012), and it gives users unprecedented capacity to co-create, share, and discuss user-generated content (Li & Suh, 2015). Social media users also share news and information links to external content except for their personal expressions more often. Pew research center has indicated that around two-thirds of American adults got news on social media in 2018 (Shearer & Matsa, 2018). Research by CNNIC also reports that around half of social media users consume information from social media platforms in China in 2016 (CNNIC, 2017).

The prevalence of social media as an information source has prompted more researchers to examine the credibility of information from social media. Like other online sources in Web 1.0, social media also lacks professional gatekeeping. More than that, users are able to exchange information more easily and directly, and they are facing more diverse and unfamiliar sources. Besides, information on social media appears in many formats, such as status updates, photo posts, videos, and links to other individuals or

organizations, influencing the way people evaluate the information (Johnson & Kaye, 2014; Schmierbach & Oeldorf-Hirsch, 2012). These features make the credibility judgment to information on social media different from traditional media and Web 1.0 (Li & Suh, 2015; Viviani & Pasi, 2017). The flood of unverified or falsified information on social media also makes it crucial to understand how users are making assessments of credibility when using social media to consume information (Yang et al., 2013), which deals with both the characteristics of content creators and the intrinsic nature of social media platforms.

First, social media do not have only one unified agenda. They curate a diverse range of information sources, and traditional news organizations and governments have used social media to influence and reach out to audiences more directly (Zhang & Guo, 2019). Considering the social nature of social media, users can choose to be exposed to information from connected people who have similar interests and ideas with them.

Studies have shown that users are more likely to trust information from peer networks who hold similar views and whom they have already trust (Johnson & Kaye, 2014; Metzger & Flanagin, 2013). An experiment on Facebook has found that social media recommendations can improve credibility (Turcotte et al., 2015). These findings suggest that the credibility level of different information sources on social media may vary.

Second, different social media platforms possess different characteristics and provide different affordances, such as interactivity, synchronicity, and information retrieval (Johnson & Kaye, 2014). For example, scholars have found that Facebook and Twitter (Halpern et al., 2017; Johnson & Kaye, 2015) and Weibo and WeChat (Zhang &

Guo, 2019) have different information dissemination processes. However, although some studies have mapped out what social media characteristics may influence credibility, they mainly focus only on a specific social media platform, like Twitter or Facebook (Kang et al., 2015; Li & Suh, 2015; Morris et al., 2012). Little literature has been found to assess the credibility of different social media platforms so far. This study will distinguish the medium credibility of the most popular social media platforms used for news consumption in the U.S. and China, attempting to answer the following research question:

RQ1: Which social media platform do in-U.S. Chinese college students perceive as the most credible to consume a) Chinese COVID-19 information and b) US COVID-19 information?

Media Dependency and Its Relationship with Media Credibility

Media credibility has been proved to be a strong predictor of media users' further actions (McKnight & Kacmar, 2006), and the problem of misinformation is pervasive on social media. For these reasons, many previous studies have been conducted to explore why people assign different media with different levels of credibility. Most researchers analyzed media's technological design factors (e.g., Fogg et al., 2003; Johnson & Kaye, 2016; Sundar, 2008; Westerman et al., 2012) and users' motivations (e.g., Johnson & Kaye, 2014; Metzger et al., 2010). They mostly used theories like the information-processing models (Johnson & Kaye, 2015; Sundar, 2008) and the uses and gratifications (U&G) theory (Greer, 2003; Johnson & Kaye, 2002) to match these factors with different credibility levels. The relationship between media credibility and media dependency, or media reliance used in some studies, has also been researched in some studies. Media dependency is especially crucial in this article's case, which will be further discussed in this section.

The Media System Dependency (MSD) theory was proposed and developed by Ball-Rokeach and his colleagues (1976) to explain the mutual relationships between mass media, social systems, and individuals. Ball-Rokeach (1985) defined dependency in the MSD theory as "a relation between individuals' goals and the extent to which these goals are contingent upon the resources of the media system" (pp. 494–495), and those resources have the capacity to create, gather, process and disseminate information. When individuals cannot solely rely on interpersonal sources to obtain the information they need and mass media can provide the information, they would depend on mass media as

an essential source (Ball-Rokeach, 1985; Ball-Rokeach & DeFleur, 1976). Individuals' dependency on the media will be stronger when there are fewer alternative information sources and when their society is more complicated. MSD contains two levels of relationships: first, the macro-level deals with individuals' dependency on media systems and different social systems. Second, the micro-level considers an individual's relationship with specific media to achieve personal goals (Ball-Rokeach, 1985).

This study focuses on the micro-level to examine which specific media are perceived to have the capacity to satisfy users' needs for information rather than other alternatives (Jackob, 2010). It can be measured as the intensity of dependency (Ball-Rokeach, 1998), which means the perceived exclusivity of resources for goal attainment (Jackob, 2010), by asking users how helpful they find a medium, rather than other alternatives, to attain certain goals. The goals include social understanding, selfunderstanding, interaction orientation, action orientation, social play, and solitary play (Ball-Rokeach, 1985). In this study, to examine how people consume COVID-19 information on different media platforms and sources, social understanding goals and action orientation goals are the major concerns. According to Ball-Rokeach and DeFleur (1976), the social understanding goal refers to the need to have a basic understanding of the world around them, and the action orientation goal is the need to effectively direct personal actions. COVID-19 is a newly emerged and unfamiliar issue for the public, but it severely concerns public health. Therefore, it requires people to seek information from the media to better understand this pandemic and find ways to protect themselves. In this kind of threatening situation, individuals' dependency on media should be more intense.

With the growth and prevalence of the internet and social media, the powerful role of traditional mass media has declined from its exclusiveness of information (Jackob, 2010), as people have more alternative digital channels to attain knowledge. Social media are increasingly important for users to fulfill the social understanding goals and the action orientation goals (Kim & Jung, 2017). Some studies have compared social media dependency with other media (Kim & Jung, 2017; Lyu, 2012), but the dependency intensity level of different sources on social media and various social media platforms may also vary. In terms of information sources on social media, social media provide users with access to diverse information sources—from the governments, mainstream news media, local news media, opinion leaders to friends—while the government and mainstream news media still control more information than the public on some occasions, including public health crises. In terms of social media platforms, different social media have different characteristics related to information production and dissemination. For example, compared to Twitter, Facebook connections are more based on real-life friends, and the social connections are bidirectional, while on Twitter, people can follow whomever they want, and they do not need to reveal their true identities (Johnson & Kaye, 2015). It can be deducted that information flow on Twitter is more public, with less consideration of real-life social connections, which may cause different dependency levels on Twitter and Facebook. Considering the differences in social media dependency levels, this research proposes the following research question:

RQ2: Which social media platform do in-U.S. Chinese college students depend mostly on to consume a) Chinese COVID-19 information and b) US COVID-19 information?

The Relationship Between Media Dependency and Media Credibility

Compared to media use, such as frequencies and time length, media dependency is a more critical predictor of media credibility. The media dependency level considers alternatives. When there are fewer alternatives choices to achieve the users' goals, which means users have to consume information from certain media, the trust in this media is more important (Jackob, 2010). Especially in cases like the COVID-19 pandemic, some vital information can only be obtained from certain authorities and experts, so the public may have no other choice but to depend on these information sources. If the public can not verify or trust these information sources or media platforms because of the circulation of misinformation, the unresponsiveness of the government and other reasons, they will be caught in an "infodemic" (Alam et al., 2020; Pulido et al., 2020), without directions for social understanding or actions orientation.

Several researchers have mapped the relationship between media dependency and media credibility in different contexts previously. Two scholars, Johnson and Kaye, have used "reliance" instead of "dependency" in many of their studies (e.g., Johnson & Kaye, 2000, 2002, 2004, 2010, 2016). They define media reliance as "how much consumers psychologically depend on information to learn about their social, cultural, and political worlds" (Johnson & Kaye, 2016, p. 138). From this definition, media reliance is generally interchangeable with media dependency. To measure "media reliance," they simply asked

the respondents to what extent they rely on different media, while a more comprehensive scale has been established in media dependency. For these reasons, this study will still use media dependency instead of media reliance to investigate the relationship with media credibility.

In some studies, researchers found that higher media dependency can predict higher media credibility. When comparing the internet and other traditional media, some studies have found that the more people rely on the internet, the more they consider the internet credible than other media (Flanagin & Metzger, 2000; Greer, 2003; Johnson & Kaye, 1998; Kiousis, 2001). Johnson and Kaye conducted three online surveys among political-interested internet users to test their online media reliance and credibility in political news and presidential election cases. These three studies all prove that the reliance on online sources, including blogs, online newspapers, and SNSs, is the strongest predictor of credibility (Johnson & Kaye, 2010, 2014, 2016). Using media dependency as the independent variable, Li and Suh (2015) applied the Elaboration Likelihood Model, and they tested the relationship between five factors and medium and message credibility on Facebook during the Umbrella Movement in Hong Kong in 2014. They found that medium dependency is the main determinant of medium credibility. These results can be well explained that the relationship between reliance and credibility is sometimes circular. People usually tend to depend on the media sources and platforms they trust, and the more people rely on and accept a source, the more they assign these sources with high perceived credibility (Johnson & Kaye, 2014, 2016; Stavrositu & Sundar, 2008).

However, some studies have found the opposite result. Johnson and Kaye (2000)

found reliance on the internet could positively predict the credibility of online media during the 1996 U.S. presidential election, but they did not find the same relationship in 2000. In the research Mackay and Lowrey (2011) conducted to compare the perceived credibility of online newspapers, journalist blogs, and non-journalist blogs, media dependency had no statistically significant relationship with credibility. Due to the unclear relationship between dependency level and perceived credibility level in various contexts, this thesis asks two research questions to explore whether the dependency level can positively predict the perceived credibility level regarding social media platforms and information sources. As for the research question about information sources, this study focuses more on the in-U.S. students' attitudes towards Chinese information sources, especially the Chinese government and mainstream news media. Therefore, the question only asks about the Chinese condition.

RQ3: Does the dependency level positively predict the perceived credibility level regarding the different social media platforms when in-U.S. Chinese college students consume a) Chinese COVID-19 information b) U.S. COVID-19 information?

RQ4: Does the dependency level positively predict the perceived credibility level regarding the different Chinese information sources on social media when in-U.S. Chinese college students consume Chinese COVID-19 information?

The reviewed studies were conducted in different countries, time periods, which focused on different topics, and used different measuring scales. Given the influence of context variances on the research results, it is important to scrutinize the context of this

study, COVID-19, and the Chinese media environment.

Context Matters: Public Health Crisis and Chinese Media Environment Public Health Crisis

Research has pointed out that the nature of crisis partially influences the importance of certain media (Kim et al., 2004). Most relevant studies focused on political issues and considered media users' political interests using online media (e.g., Johnson & Kaye, 2010; Mackay & Lowrey, 2011; Ognyanova & Ball-Rokeach, 2015). However, in recent years more users have also moved to social media platforms for health-related information from traditional media, as the users can get more information from various sources, and it is easier for them to exchange personal experiences with each other (De Choudhury et al., 2014; Li et al., 2018).

Cultural Differences in Media Credibility and Dependency

Some cross-cultural studies have demonstrated that cultural differences and other contextual factors can influence credibility perceptions. In Fletcher and Park's (2017) study with the data across 11 countries, northern European countries present the most robust relationship between low levels of trust and preference in non-mainstream news sources than other areas. Using data from 44 diverse countries, Tsfati and Ariely (2014) found that state ownership of television has a positive association with media trust in democratic countries but a negative association in nondemocratic countries. Yang et al. (2013) compared the situations in China and the United States by examining the users' ratings of the credibility of tweets using a survey and an experiment, and they found that Chinese users view microblogs more credible as a source of information than U.S. users for a large selection of topics. The significant differences between the West and East Asia

can be analyzed from the analytics and holistic cognitive patterns, individualism and collectivism social orientations, political systems, economic ideology, industrialization, and so on (Yang et al., 2013)

Although no literature has been found comparing media dependency in different cultures or countries, the social system itself is a variable in the MSD theory, meaning that the dependency levels should vary in different social contexts. Some literature has examined media dependency in the Chinese society during emergencies or threatening situations (e.g., Jiang & Ouyang, 2008; Lyu, 2012, 2019; Sun et al., 2001; Tai & Sun, 2007), demonstrating the increasing dependency on the internet and social media, as well as the influences of Chinese unique media environment, which are discussed below.

Chinese Media Environment and in-U.S. Chinese Student

As a nondemocratic society, China is known to have a highly censored and controlled media environment, both in traditional media and on the internet. The culture of government censorship can be an influential factor in Chinese netizens' perceived media credibility (Yang et al., 2013). Due to its unique political system, some critical information is also highly controlled and not available from the mainstream news media. Tai and Sun (2007) have analyzed the Chinese public's media dependency in the SARS epidemic in 2003. They concluded that the government's inattention to the outbreak of the SARS epidemic and the covering up of traditional media information in the early stage made the government and mainstream news media not dependable for ordinary citizens in that crisis. Many individuals had to turn to some informal information sources and become information creators and disseminators themselves through short message

service, internet chat rooms, bulletin boards, and forums to cope with their "infodemic" (Tai & Sun, 2007). The situation in the early stage of COVID-19 is quite similar to the SARS, that the Chinese government and mainstream media are criticized for covering up the virus' outbreaking and severity information, silencing whistleblowers, keeping the expert groups in the dark, and playing down the threat (Chen, 2020; Yang, 2020; Yuan, 2020). Unlike seventeen years ago, social media have been viewed as a virtual channel for information that empowers the Chinese public and liberates them from tight governmental control (Lyu, 2012). However, to what extent Chinese users can depend on, trust, and benefit from COVID-19 information on social media remains to be answered.

This thesis focuses on a special population — in-U.S. Chinese students, who are not only savvier in Chinese and U.S. social media platforms but also have a strong need to attain COVID-19 information about both countries. According to the annual census release from The Institute of International Education (2020), in around 1 million international students in the U.S. in 2019/2020, Chinese students take 34.5% of them and make up the largest part, with the number of around 370,000. This no small group has aroused increasing concern from the communication and media studies academics in the US. Scholars have found that social media have served as an important channel to fulfill diverse information needs (Hamid et al., 2016), reduce uncertainty in the new environments (Rui & Wang, 2015), and alleviate sociocultural stressors in acculturation for international students (Forbush & Foucault-Welles, 2016). Considering that authorities and experts master more COVID-19 information, especially the case numbers and prevention methods (Tai & Sun, 2007; Wang et al., 2020; Zhang & Zhang, 2020),

they might be the major sources for in-U.S. Chinese students to consume COVID-19 information on social media. However, due to government censorship, in-U.S. Chinese students might have a higher possibility of being exposed to criticizing opinions of the Chinese government's unresponsiveness than people in Mainland China. Taken the previous research results and the context into consideration, the hypotheses are deducted as follows:

H1: In-U.S. Chinese college students depend more on the Chinese government and mainstream news media sources on social media than other sources to consume Chinese COVID-19 information.

H2: In-U.S. Chinese college students perceive the Chinese government and mainstream news media sources on social media as less credible than other sources to consume Chinese COVID-19 information.

Method

Data Collection and Respondents

This thesis uses an online survey to investigate in-U.S. Chinese college students' attitudes toward different social media platforms and information sources on social media when they consumed COVID-19 information. The survey was conducted between November 14 to December 10 in 2020. The questionnaire was constructed with online survey tools on Qualtrics and Wenjuanwang, a Chinese online questionnaire management platform. The questionnaire was composed of Chinese, both for filtering out non-Chinese students and for the respondents' accurate understanding of the questions and options. The URLs of the questionnaire were promoted both on the SONA system, a cloud-based research participant management software, of a college in one northeastern U.S. university and on a major Chinese overseas students' BBS (Bulletin Board System) 1point3acres. To increase the response rate, monetary incentives sent through WeChat were provided for survey respondents on Wenjuanwang. Course credits were granted for students who completed the survey through the SONA system. Screening questions were included to filter out the respondents who were not in-U.S. college students with Chinese nationality, who did not use social media to consume information and were younger than 18 years old. Only the results from the completed questionnaires were recorded. After removing unqualified responses that are incomplete or have outlying dependency or credibility scores, this convenience sample of in-U.S. Chinese college students who used social media yielded 195 completed survey responses.

Research has shown that some demographic information can influence media use

and credibility level, including age, gender, ethnicity, and education (Bucy, 2003; Ognyanova & Ball-Rokeach, 2015). The respondents were asked to indicate their gender, age, and education level in the survey. Among the 195 valid participants, 60.00% were aged between 23 to 30 (n = 117), 35.90% were 18–22 years old (n = 70), and 4.10% were between 31 to 40 (n = 8). The survey also asked them the degree program they were working on, and 26.67% of them were in bachelor's programs (n = 52), 55.90% were in master's programs (n = 109), and 17.44% were in doctoral programs (n = 34). Female respondents outnumber males (58.97% and 40.51%, respectively), and one respondent chose "Other" in the gender question (0.51%). The number of years the respondents have stayed in the U.S. ranges from 1 to 14, with a mean of 3.45 (M = 3.45, SD = 2.55). The respondents were asked to rate on a five-point Likert scale (1 = not at all, 5 = very much) for the extent to which they were concerned about "U.S. COVID-19 information" (M =4.00, SD = .98), "Chinese COVID-19 information" (M = 3.86, SD = 1.16) and "global" COVID-19 information" (M = 3.20, SD = 1.12). Apart from social media, most respondents had used news websites or smart device applications to consume COVID-19 information (n = 168, 86.15%), and some had also used other online sources (n = 84, 43.08%). Only about one-third of the respondents had consumed COVID-19 information on television or radio (n = 69, 35.38%) and only one-tenth on newspapers or magazines (n = 19, 9.74%).

Social Media Platforms

Five U.S. social media platforms and two Chinese social media are provided in the questionnaire. The five U.S. social media platforms—Facebook, Twitter, Instagram,

YouTube, and Reddit—are used most in the U.S. for news consumption according to a Pew survey (Shearer & Matsa, 2018), and they vary in their main functions. Facebook is regarded as a social networking site, Twitter is a microblog, Reddit is more like a forum, Instagram is for photo sharing, and YouTube is for video sharing. The two most widely used social media platforms in China, WeChat and Weibo, are designed as a social networking site and a microblog, respectively. The respondents were asked the frequency of using different social media platforms to consume the U.S. and Chinese COVID-19 information on a 5-point scale (1 = several times a day, 2 = once a day, 3 = few times aweek, 4 = every few weeks, 5 = almost never). When consuming the U.S. COVID-19 information, the respondents used WeChat most frequently than other social media platforms (M = 3.03, SD = 1.45), followed by Weibo (M = 3.59, SD = 1.51), Twitter (M =4.16, SD = 1.15), YouTube (M = 4.24, SD = 1.10), Instagram (M = 4.44, SD = 1.04), Facebook (M= 4.54, SD = .96) and Reddit (M = 4.78, SD = .70). For Chinese COVID-19 information, WeChat (M = 2.95, SD = 1.49) and Weibo (M = 3.38, SD = 1.58) were also the most frequently used, while more than 170 respondents "almost never" used the five U.S. social media platforms. The respondents were only asked to rate the dependency and credibility levels of the social media platforms if they did not choose the "almost never" of the question about the frequency of using each social media.

Information Sources on Social Media

To distinguish between different information sources on social media, six categories are identified: governmental sources, non-governmental organizations or companies, mainstream news media, local news media, opinion leaders, and

friends/connected people. Examples of each source are given in the questions to help respondents recall the information sources they had used.

The respondents were asked to answer "yes" or "no" regarding whether they had consumed COVID-19 information from each source. More than half of the respondents had consumed the U.S. COVID-19 information from the U.S. government (e.g., the White House, CDC, n = 112, 57.44%) and mainstream news media (e.g., CNN, n = 100, 51.28%) sources on social media, followed by the U.S. non-governmental organization/company sources (e.g., John Hopkins University, n = 86, 44.10%). Around 30% of the respondents had obtained U.S. COVID-19 information from U.S. opinion leaders (n = 60, 30.77%) and U.S. friends/connected people (n = 62, 31.79%) on social media, and only 28 respondents (14.36%) had used U.S. local news media.

When consuming Chinese COVID-19 information, most of the respondents had used Chinese governmental sources (e.g., the Health Department, n = 120, 61.54%) and Chinese mainstream news media (e.g., People's Daily, n = 112, 57.44%), which is similar with the sources they used for consuming the U.S. COVID-19 information. Fewer respondents had consumed COVID-19 information from Chinese non-governmental organization/company sources (n = 54, 27.69%), Chinese local news media (n = 36, 18.46%) and Chinese opinion leaders on social media (n = 44, 22.56%). However, 115 respondents (58.97%) reported that they had obtained Chinese COVID-19 information from Chinese friends and people they are connected to on social media. The respondents were only asked to rate the dependency and credibility level of the information sources if they choose "yes" to the question of whether they have consumed COVID-19

information from that source. Table 1 presents all the descriptive information.

Table 1

Descriptive Overview (N = 195)

Descriptive Overview ($N = 195$)	
Age	n (%)
18–22	70 (35.90%)
23 to 30	117 (60.00%)
31 to 40	8 (4.10%)
Degree	n (%)
Bachelor's programs	52 (26.67%)
Master's programs	109 (55.90%)
Doctoral programs	34 (17.44%)
Gender	n (%)
Female	115 (58.97%)
Male	78 (40.51%)
Other	1 (0.51%)
Years stayed in the U.S.	M = 3.45, $SD = 2.55$
Media used for COVID-19 information	M (SD)
Social media	195 (100.00%)
News websites or smart device applications	168 (86.15%)
Other online sources	84 (43.08%)
Television or radio	69 (35.38%)
Newspapers or magazines	19 (9.74%)
Information sources for Chinese COVID-19 information	M (SD)
Chinese governmental sources	120 (61.54%)
Chinese non-governmental organization/company	54 (27.69%)
Chinese mainstream media	112 (57.44%)
Chinese local media	36 (18.46%)
Chinese opinion leaders	44 (22.56%)
Chinese friends/connected people	115 (58.97%)
Concerning level to COVID-19 information (1–5, low to high)	M (SD)
U.S. COVID-19 information	M = 4.00, SD = .98
Chinese COVID-19 information	M = 3.86, $SD = 1.16$
Global COVID-19 information	M = 3.20, $SD = 1.12$

Social media use frequencies for U.S. COVID-19 information	M (SD)
WeChat	M = 3.03 (1.45)
Weibo	M = 3.59 (1.51)
Twitter	M = 4.16 (1.15)
YouTube	M = 4.24 (1.10)
Instagram	M = 4.44 (1.04)
Facebook	M = 4.54 (.96)
Reddit	M = 4.78 (.70)
Social media use frequencies for Chinese COVID-19	M (SD)
WeChat	M = 2.95 (1.49)
Weibo	M = 3.38 (1.58)
YouTube	M = 4.79 (.60)
Facebook	M = 4.85 (.61)
Twitter	M = 4.85 (.52)
Instagram	M = 4.85 (.55)
Reddit	M = 4.96 (.31)

Measurements

Social Media Credibility

A five-item scale, including fairness, accuracy, unbiased/balance, comprehensiveness /depth of information, and reliability/believability, has been widely used in credibility research (Flanagin & Metzger, 2000; Go et al., 2016; Meyer, 1988). However, in their most recent studies, Johnson and Kaye (2015, 2016, 2017) used a three-item scale examining credibility on social media, including believability, fairness, and accuracy. Unbiased/balanced and comprehensiveness/depth of information were removed as producers cannot avoid bias and the word limit on social media (Johnson & Kaye, 2015, 2016; Kaye & Johnson, 2017). This study follows this measurement using

the three-item scale, and the respondents were asked to rate the believability, fairness, and accuracy of each social media platform and source they had used for consuming COVID-19 information on a five-point Likert scale (1 = very disagree, 5 = very agree). An overall credibility index was created by combining the three measures (scale 3–15).

Social Media Dependency for Information

To measure media dependency, this study uses three questions adapted from the questions used in four previous studies from social understanding and actions orientation goals (Jackob, 2010; Kim & Jung, 2017; Li & Suh, 2015; Lyu, 2012) measuring on a five-point Likert scale (1 = very disagree, 5 = very agree). The respondents were asked to rate the extent that they thought the social media platform or the information source "was helpful for me to figure out what is happening about COVID-19", "was helpful for me to deepen my understanding in COVID-19," and "was dependable if I want to get information and make up my mind in action about COVID-19 issues." An overall dependency index was created by combining the three measures (scale 3–15).

Control Variables

In addition to the demographics, another two sets of variables are controlled in the tests.

Frequency of Using Chinese Social Media. To examine the relationship between dependency and perceived credibility levels among different Chinese information sources on Chinese social media when the respondents consume Chinese COVID-19 information, the frequency of using Chinese social media platform, WeChat

and Weibo, should be controlled. This variable is measured by the average of WeChat using frequency and Weibo using frequency, respectively, ranging from 1 to 5, from high to low frequency.

Other Media Usage. The study also controls the influence of other media usage other than social media when examining the relationship between dependency and perceived credibility levels among different social media platforms. The respondents were asked whether they had used the listed five media they have used for consuming COVID-19 information, and each media use was measured as a binary variable with the code 0 (not used) and 1 (used). The value of the four media platforms – news websites or smartphone applications, other online sources, television or radio, newspapers or magazine – were summed up to create the new variable "other media usage" ranging from 0 to 4. For example, 3 in this variable indicates the respondent has used three media other than social media to consume COVID-19 information.

Data Analysis

The data collected were analyzed using SPSS. This study used paired-sample ttests to compare the dependency and credibility scores of social media platforms and
information sources dealing with different sample sizes. To examine the relationship
between dependency and credibility scores and answer RQ3 and RQ4, this study
employed hierarchical regressions with three blocks. For both RQ3 and RQ4, the first
block includes demographics and other control variables (gender, degree, years stayed in
the U.S., level of concerning regarding the Chinese/U.S. COVID-19 situation). In
addressing RQ3, which asks the relationship between dependency and credibility on

social media platforms, the second block includes "other media usage" and the frequencies of using each social media. In RQ4, to explore the relationship between dependency and credibility levels of Chinese information sources, the second block includes two variables, which are "other media usage" and "frequency of using Chinese social media." Dependency score of each social media platform and information source was added to the third block separately to analyze the change in the effect size of dependency caused to credibility in the Model 3 for both RQ3 and RQ4.

Results

Dependency and Credibility Levels of Social Media Platforms

The first research question asks the social media platform that in-U.S. Chinese college students perceive as the most credible to consume the U.S. and Chinese COVID-19 information, respectively. The results in Table 2 and Table 3 show that WeChat has the highest credibility score for consuming both the U.S. (9.55) and Chinese (10.54) information. Weibo is not more credible than U.S. social media platforms for U.S. information, but it has much higher credibility scores than U.S. social media platforms when consuming Chinese information.

Table 2

Credibility Measurements of Social Media Platforms for U.S. COVID-19
Information Mean Scores (Scale 1–5)

	Believable	Fair	Accurate	Credibility Index (3–15)
U.S. Social Media				
Facebook $(n = 47)$	3.17	3.17	2.94	9.28, $\alpha = .85$
Twitter (n= 84)	3.15	3.06	2.81	9.02, $\alpha = .90$
Instagram $(n = 54)$	3.04	3.06	2.72	$8.82, \alpha = .88$
YouTube $(n = 82)$	3.24	3.17	2.98	9.39, $\alpha = .87$
Reddit $(n = 21)$	3.14	3.10	2.90	9.14, $\alpha = .96$
Chinese Social Media				
Weibo $(n = 109)$	3.17	3.04	2.96	$9.17, \alpha = .90$
WeChat $(n = 145)$	3.28	3.16	3.11	9.55, $\alpha = .91$

Table 3

Credibility Measurements of Social Media Platforms for Chinese COVID-19
Information Mean Scores (Scale 1–5)

	Believable	Fair	Accurate	Credibility Index (3–15)
Chinese Social Media				
Weibo $(n = 118)$	3.65	3.53	3.36	10.54, $\alpha = .90$
WeChat $(n = 148)$	3.68	3.60	3.49	$10.77, \alpha = .91$
U.S. Social Media				
Facebook (n = 16)	2.94	3.00	2.88	$8.82, \alpha = .51$
Twitter (n=20)	3.00	3.05	2.85	$8.90, \alpha = .81$
Instagram $(n = 16)$	3.25	3.19	3.19	9.63, $\alpha = .96$
YouTube $(n = 25)$	3.12	2.96	2.76	$8.84, \alpha = .90$
Reddit (n = 4)	3.00	3.00	3.00	9.00

Because the sample sizes of using each U.S. social media platform for consuming Chinese information are too small and the differences between the sample size of WeChat and the sample sizes of U.S. social media platforms are too large, the means of credibility scores are not appropriate to be compared in the situation of consuming Chinese information situation. This study only compares the credibility scores of WeChat and other social media platforms for consuming U.S. information. Following Johnson and Kaye's (2014) study to compare the means of media dependency scores with various sample sizes, the two-tailed paired sample t-tests were conducted to compare WeChat and other social media platforms for consuming U.S. information. The results indicate that the credibility level of WeChat is not significantly higher than other social media platforms other than Instagram (Table 4).

Table 4

Credibility of WeChat Versus other Social Media Platforms for U.S.

COVID-19 Information

Means and Paired Samples t-scores	n	Credibility
WeChat	92	9.62
Weibo	92	9.33
t-score		1.23
WeChat	33	9.48
Facebook	33	9.12
t-score		0.75
WeChat	63	9.10
Twitter	63	8.84
t-score		0.69
WeChat	47	9.66
Instagram	47	8.83
t-score		2.03*
WeChat	68	9.76
YouTube	68	9.37
t-score		1.18
WeChat	18	9.50
Reddit	18	9.17
t-score		0.60

^{*} p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

The second research question asks the social media platform that in-U.S. Chinese college students mostly depend on when consuming the U.S. and Chinese COVID-19 information. In general, WeChat and Weibo are found to have been used mostly to consume both the U.S. and Chinese COVID-19 information and have higher dependency

indexes than Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, and YouTube (Table 5 and Table 6). The dependency index (scale 3–15) of WeChat is 10.74 for U.S. information and 11.84 for Chinese information, and Weibo is 9.91 for U.S. information and 11.78 for Chinese information. In the U.S. social media platforms, YouTube is depended most by the respondents for consuming U.S. information (9.83), and Instagram is depended most for consuming Chinese information (9.26).

Table 5

Dependency Measurements of Social Media Platforms for U.S. COVID-19
Information Mean Scores (Scale 1–5)

	Figuring out what is happening	Deepening understanding	Making action decisions	Dependency Index (3–15)
U.S. Social Media				
Facebook $(n = 47)$	3.04	3.02	2.74	8.80, $\alpha = .77$
Twitter (n= 84)	3.32	3.45	2.79	9.56, $\alpha = .78$
Instagram $(n = 54)$	2.96	3.09	2.70	$8.75, \alpha = .77$
YouTube $(n = 82)$	3.44	3.40	2.99	9.83, $\alpha = .72$
Reddit $(n = 21)$	3.05	3.14	3.00	9.19, $\alpha = .94$
Chinese Social Media				
Weibo $(n = 109)$	3.47	3.38	3.06	9.91, $\alpha = .85$
WeChat $(n = 145)$	3.70	3.63	3.41	10.74, $\alpha = .86$

Table 6

Dependency Measurements of Social Media Platforms for Chinese COVID-19
Information Mean Scores (Scale 1–5)

	Figuring out what is happening	Deepening understanding	Making action decisions	Dependency Index (3–15)
Chinese Social Media				
Weibo $(n = 118)$	4.02	3.93	3.83	11.78, $\alpha = .92$
WeChat $(n = 148)$	4.00	4.02	3.82	11.84, $\alpha = .90$
U.S. Social Media				
Facebook $(n = 16)$	3.00	3.06	2.94	9.00, $\alpha = .65$
Twitter $(n=20)$	2.95	3.10	2.85	8.90, $\alpha = .78$
Instagram $(n = 16)$	3.13	3.13	3.00	9.26, $\alpha = .75$
YouTube $(n = 25)$	3.16	3.16	2.84	9.16, α = .79
Reddit $(n = 4)$	3.00	3.00	3.00	9.00

Two-tailed paired sample t-tests were conducted to compare WeChat and other social media platforms in terms of media dependency scores for consuming U.S. information (Table 7). The results indicate that WeChat is depended more than all other social media platforms significantly when in-U.S. Chinese students consume U.S. COVID-19 information.

Table 7

Dependency of WeChat Versus other Social Media Platforms for U.S. COVID-19 Information

Means and Paired Samples t-scores	n	Dependency
WeChat	90	10.94
Weibo	90	10.09
t-score		3.58***
WeChat	32	10.72
Facebook	32	8.78
t-score		3.08**
WeChat	60	10.52
Twitter	60	9.47
t-score		2.78**
WeChat	46	11.28
Instagram	46	8.87
t-score		6.41***
WeChat	68	11.13
YouTube	68	10
t-score		3.53***
WeChat	18	11.11
Reddit	18	9.22
t-score		2.34*

^{*} p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

Dependency and Credibility Levels of Information Sources

The paper hypothesizes that in-U.S. Chinese college students depend more on the government and mainstream news media sources on social media than on other sources to consume Chinese COVID-19 information. The results show that Chinese governmental sources (12.63) and mainstream news media (12.52) have higher media dependency

scores than other sources (Table 8). The two-tailed paired sample t-tests confirm that Chinese governmental sources are depended more by the respondents than mainstream news media (t = 2.61, p < .05), opinion leaders (t = 2.54, p < .05), and friends or connected people (t = 2.99, p < .01) significantly on social media (Table 9). Chinese mainstream news media is significantly more dependent than friends or connected people (t = 3.32, p < .01) (Table 10). H1 is supported.

Table 8

Dependency Measurements of Information Sources for Chinese COVID-19
Information Mean Scores (Scale 1–5)

	Figuring out what is happening	Deepening understanding	Making action decisions	Dependency Index (3–15)
Chinese governmental sources (n = 120)	4.23	4.22	4.18	12.63, $\alpha = .90$
Chinese non-governmental organization/company sources (n = 54)	4.11	4.19	3.89	12.19, $\alpha = .87$
Chinese mainstream news media $(n = 112)$	4.23	4.23	4.06	12.52, $\alpha = .94$
Chinese local news media $(n = 36)$	4.08	4.17	3.86	12.11, $\alpha = .82$
Chinese opinion leaders $(n = 44)$	3.91	3.86	3.55	11.32, α = .91
Chinese friends/connected people $(n = 115)$	3.95	3.97	3.76	11.68, $\alpha = .88$

Table 9

Dependency of Chinese Governmental Sources Versus Other Information Sources on Social Media for Chinese COVID-19 Information

Means and Paired Samples t-scores	n	Dependency
Chinese governmental sources	43	12.44
Chinese non-governmental organization/company sources	43	12.44
t-score		1.05
Chinese governmental sources	88	12.86
Chinese mainstream news media	88	12.50
t-score		2.61*
Chinese governmental sources	28	12.46
Chinese local news media	28	12.25
t-score		1.06
Chinese governmental sources	32	12.38
Chinese opinion leaders	32	10.94
t-score		2.54*
Chinese governmental sources	85	12.58
Chinese friends/connected people	85	11.76
t-score		2.99**

^{*} p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

Table 10

Dependency of Chinese Mainstream News Media Versus Other
Information Sources on Social Media for Chinese COVID-19 Information

Means and Paired Samples t-scores	n	Dependency
Chinese mainstream news media	88	9.62
Chinese governmental sources	88	9.33
t-score		-2.61**
Chinese mainstream news media	43	9.48
Chinese non-governmental organization/company sources	43	9.12
t-score		0.59
Chinese mainstream news media	32	9.10
Chinese local news media	32	8.84
t-score		0.63
Chinese mainstream news media	38	9.66
Chinese opinion leaders	38	8.83
t-score		1.91
Chinese mainstream news media	87	9.76
Chinese friends/connected people	87	9.37
t-score		3.32**

^{*} p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

H2 hypothesizes that in-U.S. Chinese college students have lower perceived credibility on the government and mainstream news media sources than other sources when consuming Chinese COVID-19 information. Contrary to the expectation, the results in Table 11 indicate that Chinese mainstream news media (11.99) and Chinese governmental sources (11.92) have the highest credibility scores among all sources. In addition, the two-tailed paired sample t-tests show that Chinese governmental sources and mainstream news media are significantly more credible than friends or connected people on social media (Table 12 and Table 13). H2 is not supported.

Table 11

Credibility Measurements of Information Sources for Chinese COVID-19
Information Mean Scores (Scale 1–5)

	Believable	Fair	Accurate	Credibility Index (3–15)
Chinese governmental sources (n = 120)	4.10	3.99	3.83	11.92, $\alpha = .92$
Chinese non-governmental organization/company sources (n = 54)	4.00	3.93	3.69	11.62, α = .91
Chinese mainstream news media $(n = 112)$	4.09	4.01	3.89	11.99, $\alpha = .91$
Chinese local news media (n = 36)	4.00	3.86	3.72	11.58, α = .95
Chinese opinion leaders (n = 44)	3.80	3.75	3.48	11.03, α = .93
Chinese friends/connected people (n = 115)	3.78	3.56	3.33	10.67, $\alpha = .86$

Table 12
Credibility of Chinese Governmental Sources Versus Other Information
Sources on Social Media for Chinese COVID-19 Information

Means and Paired Samples t-scores	n	Credibility
Chinese governmental sources	43	11.79
Chinese non-governmental organization/company sources	43	11.65
t-score		0.34
Chinese governmental sources	88	12.20
Chinese mainstream news media	88	12.15
t-score		0.35
Chinese governmental sources	28	12.07
Chinese local news media	28	11.82
t-score		1.10
Chinese governmental sources	32	11.53
Chinese opinion leaders	32	10.69
t-score		1.35
Chinese governmental sources	85	11.86
Chinese friends/connected people	85	10.75
t-score		3.52***

^{*} p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

Table 13
Credibility of Chinese Mainstream News Media Versus Other Information Sources on Social Media for Chinese COVID-19 Information

Means and Paired Samples t-scores	n	Credibility
Chinese mainstream news media	88	12.15
Chinese governmental sources	88	12.20
t-score		-0.35
Chinese mainstream news media	43	11.88
Chinese non-governmental organization/company sources	43	11.53
t-score		1.04
Chinese mainstream news media	32	12.16
Chinese local news media	32	11.75
t-score		1.68
Chinese mainstream news media	38	11.63
Chinese opinion leaders	38	10.89
t-score		1.26
Chinese mainstream news media	87	11.98
Chinese friends/connected people	87	10.69
t-score		5.41***

^{*} p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

Relationship between Dependency and Credibility Levels

To answer the research questions RQ3 and RQ4 that examine the relationship between dependency and credibility levels of social media platforms and information sources, hierarchical regressions were conducted. In each analysis, three blocks of independent variables and control variables were entered: (1) demographics, including gender, degree, the years lived in the U.S., and the extent that the respondents were concerned about the Chinese or U.S. COVID-19 situation, (2) social media and other media use, (3) the dependency levels. The dependent variable is the respondents'

perceived media credibility. The results from the regression models are reported in Table 14 and Table 15.

RQ3 asks whether the dependency level positively predicts the perceived credibility level of different social media platforms for consuming a) Chinese and b) U.S. COVID-19 information. Considering the inadequate sample sizes of using U.S. social media platforms for consuming Chinese COVID-19 information, only the use of WeChat and Weibo for consuming Chinese COVID-19 information were tested. After controlling for the demographics, the participants' level of concern regarding the Chinese COVID-19 situation, social media and other media use, the results show that the dependency levels positively predict credibility levels in terms of both WeChat ($\beta = .73$, p < .001) and Weibo ($\beta = .65$, p < .001).

For the U.S. COVID-19 information, the results show that dependency is positively associated with the credibility level for all the social media platforms significantly, though the prediction power varies (Table 15). Specifically, the coefficients for Weibo dependency (β = .64, p < .001) and WeChat dependency (β = .69, p < .001) to predict the two platforms' credibility are higher than other social media platforms, and Facebook dependency has the lowest prediction power (β = .45, p < .01).

Table 14

Hierarchical Regressions of Predictors of Social Media Credibility for Chinese COVID-19 Information

	Model I	Model II	Model III	Model I	Model II	Model III	
	WeChat				Weibo		
Gender	.16*	.13	.09	.08	.12	.08	
Degree	.12	.11	.05	.10	.12	.09	
Years in the U.S.	04	.00	.02	05	07	07	
Level of concern regarding the Chinese situation	.28***	.17*	.05	.27**	.14	.04	
Other media usage		.03	.07		.18	.13	
Frequency of WeChat use		34***	05		.09	.05	
Frequency of Weibo use		.11	.04		23**	.01	
Frequency of Facebook use		.04	.05		08	05	
Frequency of Twitter use		.07	.00		.06	12	
Frequency of Instagram use		09	08		17	06	
Frequency of YouTube use		.10	04		.16	.13	
Dependency			.73***			.65***	
$\triangle R^2$.12***	.11**	.39***	.09*	.09	.31***	
Adjusted R ²	.09	.16	.59	.06	.10	.44	

^{*} p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

Table 15
Hierarchical Regressions of Predictors of Social Media Credibility for U.S. COVID19 Information

19 Injormation							
	Model I	Model II	Model III	Model I	Model II	Model III	
	Facebook				Twitter		
Gender	.08	.17	.15	.08	.02	01	
Degree	.25	.13	02	.11	.06	.19	
Years in the U.S.	14	06	.09	11	04	01	
Level of concern regarding the U.S. situation	.29	.16	.12	.22*	.25*	.15	
Other media usage		.17	.22		09	06	
Frequency of Facebook use		21	12		06	12	
Frequency of Twitter use		22	16		35	.01**	
Frequency of Instagram use		.16	.33		.05	.02	
Frequency of YouTube use		.29	.23		.19	.05	
Frequency of Weibo use		15	20		14	.02	
Frequency of WeChat use		04	02		.18	.11	
Dependency			.45**			.58***	
$\triangle R^2$.16	.20	.12**	.08	.18*	.19***	
Adjusted R ²	.07	.15	.29	.03	.14	.35	
	Model I	Model II	Model III	Model I	Model II	Model III	
		Instagram	l		YouTube	2	
Gender	.19	.15	.11	14	22	17	
Degree	.14	.15	.11	.30**	.35**	.32**	
Years in the U.S.	.09	.16	.08	.12	.07	.01	
Level of concern regarding to the U.S. situation	.08	.07	03	.25*	.21	.17	

Other media usage		14	16		.06	.10
Frequency of Facebook use		.14	.14		05	18
Frequency of Twitter use		21	17		.10	.15
Frequency of Instagram use		18	.12		12	16
Frequency of YouTube use		.15	.04		18	06
Frequency of Weibo use		01	14		.15	.16
Frequency of WeChat use		.07	.12		.03	.08
Dependency			.61***			.50***
$\triangle R^2$.10	.10	.24***	.17**	.06	.21***
Adjusted R ²	.02	01	.27	.13	.11	.35
	Model I	Model II	Model III	Model I	Model II	Model III
		Weibo			WeChat	
Gender	.01	.10	.11	.04	.06	04
Gender Degree	.01	.10 .17	.11 .18*	.04	.06 .14	04 .16*
Degree	.11	.17	.18*	.07	.14	.16*
Degree Years in the U.S. Level of concern regarding to the	.11 .07	.17 .08	.18* .02	.07 08	.14 10	.16* 09
Degree Years in the U.S. Level of concern regarding to the U.S. situation Other media	.11 .07	.17 .08 .02	.18* .02 .01	.07 08	.14 10 .04	.16* 09 .05
Degree Years in the U.S. Level of concern regarding to the U.S. situation Other media usage Frequency of	.11 .07	.17 .08 .02	.18* .02 .01	.07 08	.14 10 .04	.16* 09 .05
Degree Years in the U.S. Level of concern regarding to the U.S. situation Other media usage Frequency of Facebook use Frequency of	.11 .07	.08 .02 .07 05	.18* .02 .01 .0409	.07 08	.14 10 .04 .10	.16*09 .05 .0909
Degree Years in the U.S. Level of concern regarding to the U.S. situation Other media usage Frequency of Facebook use Frequency of Twitter use Frequency of Instagram use Frequency of YouTube use	.11 .07	.07 05	.18* .02 .01 .0409	.07 08	.14 10 .04 .10 .01	.16*09 .05 .0909
Degree Years in the U.S. Level of concern regarding to the U.S. situation Other media usage Frequency of Facebook use Frequency of Twitter use Frequency of Instagram use Frequency of	.11 .07	.17 .08 .02 .07 05 .05	.18* .02 .01 .04090209	.07 08	.14 10 .04 .10 .01 .13 06	.16*09 .05 .0909 .09

Dependency			.64***			.69***
$\triangle R^2$.03	.08	.36***	.02	.07	.40***
Adjusted R ²	01	.01	.40	01	.02	.44

^{*} p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

RQ4 asks whether the dependency level positively predicts the perceived credibility level of different Chinese information sources. It was expected that the in-U.S. Chinese students might depend on but not trust governmental and mainstream news media sources, but the results turned out to be the opposite (Table 15). The results show that the dependency levels of all the information sources, including the governmental and mainstream news media, are positively associated with the credibility levels. The coefficients regarding the Chinese governmental sources (β = .85, p < .001) and mainstream news media (β = .72, p < .001) are both relatively high. The relationship between dependency and credibility in terms of local news media (β = .76, p < .001) and opinion leaders (β = .94, p < .001) is stronger than that of mainstream news media (β = .72, p < .001).

Table 16

Hierarchical Regressions of Predictors of Information Sources Credibility for Chinese COVID-19 Information

	Model I	Model II	Model III	Model I	Model II	Model III	
	Chinese	governmei	ntal sources	Chinese non-governmental organization/company source			
Gender	.21*	.23*	.04	.10	.20	.10	
Degree	.08	.09	.03	.12	.20	02	
Years in the U.S.	.05	.03	01	.11	.11	.15	
Level of concern regarding to the Chinese situation	.21*	.17	08	.54***	.47***	.34***	
Other media usage		.06	.07		.17	.05	
Frequency of using Chinese social media		09	04		23	14	
Dependency			.85***			.69***	
$\triangle R^2$	$.09^{*}$.01	.62***	.31**	.06	.41***	
Adjusted R ²	.06	.06	.71***	.25	.28	.74	
	Model I	Model II	Model III	Model I	Model II	Model III	
	Chine	se mainstre media	eam news	Chine	se local ne	e local news media	
Gender	.20*	.22*	.05	.36*	.40*	.17*	
Degree	01	.02	04	.01	.02	.06	
Years in the U.S.	01	03	03	.11	.15	.06	
Level of concern regarding to the Chinese situation	.28**	.22*	.13	.40*	.29	.13	
Other media usage		.06	.06		.11	.04	
Frequency of using Chinese social media		13	.01		31*	06	

Dependency			.72***			.76***
$\triangle R^2$.11**	.02**	.47***	.35**	.10*	.40***
Adjusted R ²	.08	.08	.57	.27	.34	.82

	Model I	Model II	Model III	Model	I Model II	Model III		
	Chinese opinion leaders			Chin	Chinese friends/connected people			
Gender	01	.02	04	.14	.16	.02		
Degree	.07	.11	09	.00	.04	.10		
Years in the U.S.	30	26	03	.12	.09	.02		
Level of concern regarding to the Chinese situation	.09	.04	.05	.25**	.19	.11		
Other media usage		.01	.09		.15	.05		
Frequency of using Chinese social media		16	.07		08	03		
Dependency			.94***			.72***		
$\triangle R^2$.09	.02	.75***	.09**	.02	.46***		
Adjusted R ²	00	04	.82	.06	.07	.55		

^{*} p < .05; ** p < .01; *** p < .001

Discussion

Social media are widely used for information consumption, especially among the younger generation, including college students. Users can curate information from different sources and actively seek and choose what they are interested in. Facing so many different choices of social media platforms and information sources, how and why users choose to consume information from certain platforms and sources has provoked researchers' thinking and investigation. Previous studies have found the differences between social media and other online platforms or traditional media in terms of both dependency and credibility levels (e.g., Kim & Jung, 2017; Li & Suh, 2015; Lyu, 2012; Yang et al., 2013), but there is a lack of exploration of the differences among different social media platforms and information sources on social media. In addition, many studies have focused on political communication in democratic countries, whereas only a few studies have examined other contexts such as public health crises (e.g., Lyu, 2012; Tai & Sun, 2007; Viviani & Pasi, 2017).

Based on an online survey among in-U.S. Chinese college students, this study attempts to answer whether there are differences in the dependency and credibility levels of social media platforms and information sources when in-U.S. Chinese college students consume COVID-19 information. It also investigates the relationship between media dependency and credibility levels, which varies in different contexts (Flanagin & Metzger, 2000; Greer, 2003; Jackob, 2010; Johnson & Kaye, 1998, 2000, 2002, 2010, 2014, 2016; Kiousis, 2001; Mackay & Lowrey, 2011). This paper extends this line of research to the Chinese media environment and to the context of health communication.

Several research findings are noteworthy. First, when examining the differences in terms of the dependency level on different social media platforms, the research found that in-U.S. Chinese college students depended mostly on WeChat for consuming both Chinese and U.S. COVID-19 information, rather than on Weibo or the U.S. social media platforms. In other words, while in the U.S., the respondents still depend mostly on WeChat to know what is happening, deepen their understanding of the pandemic, and make up their minds when they take action in both Chinese and U.S. COVID-19 situations. This is not an unexpected finding, as the Chinese government has blocked all five U.S. social media platforms within China, and WeChat has its dominant status among the Chinese public. Even for in-U.S. Chinese students, WeChat could still be essential for connecting with their motherland and obtaining Chinese information. As for their dependency on WeChat for U.S. information, it can be explained by the relatively short time the respondents have spent in the U.S., with a mean of 3.45 in the range from 1 to 14 years. The respondents may still have a strong familiarity and habituation with Chinese social media platforms. Language and culture barriers might also be the reason why they do not or depend much on U.S. social media for U.S. COVID-19 information.

Comparing the media dependency scores among U.S. social media platforms for consuming U.S. COVID-19 information, the research found that Twitter and YouTube were used by more respondents and had higher media dependency scores than Facebook, Instagram, and Reddit. This can be explained by the fact that Twitter and YouTube are considered by their users to be the platforms for consuming and sharing new information (Shearer & Matsa, 2018; Stocking et al., 2020). The Twitter Search page and YouTube

Trending page provide users the opportunity to be exposed to new information from news outlets and cope with this new situation. Although, according to a survey by Pew Research Center in 2019 (Shearer & Grieco, 2019), Facebook is the social medium Americans used most commonly for news, the survey also found that nonwhite people aged between 18 and 29 with higher than college education experiences, which are similar with the group in this thesis, are the least among Facebook's news consumers. On Facebook, people tend to connect with people they already know and share their personal life experiences. In-U.S. Chinese students who have only lived in the U.S. for several years, may not have many friends to connect with on Facebook, which further decreases their use of Facebook. As Instagram is designed to be a photo-sharing social media platform and Reddit centers around interest-based communities, they are not as popular as the other three social media platforms for news consumption (Shearer & Grieco, 2019).

When comparing the credibility levels among different social media platforms, WeChat also has the highest credibility score for consuming both Chinese and U.S. information compared to all other social media. Compared to Weibo—the other Chinese social media platform that is similar to Twitter, WeChat affords more covert communication amongst people disclosing their real identities (Zhang & Guo, 2019), which could increase its perceived credibility level. On WeChat, which provides homogenized information from friend circles, similar to Facebook, users generally consume information from the sources they want to consume from in an echo chamber (Passe et al., 2018). By managing the contacts, the Moments feature (similar to

Facebook's News Feed from friends), and the Subscriptions feature (similar to Facebook's News Feed from organizational accounts), users could create a media platform curating information based on their interests and their trusted sources. However, the credibility level of WeChat is not significantly higher than that of other social media for consuming U.S. information. This may be due to the circulation of misinformation about U.S. COVID-19 on WeChat, untimely U.S. information updates, and the biased attitudes of Chinese media reports of U.S. news, due to the ongoing conflicts between the two countries (Wong et al., 2020; Zhou, 2020). Nevertheless, as of now, WeChat does not offer any features to help solve these problems. One notable finding in the hierarchical regressions of social media platforms for consuming U.S. COVID-19 information is that the more often the respondents use WeChat and Weibo, the less likely they are to perceive them as credible. This may also indicate the problems surrounding the reporting of U.S. information on Chinese social media discussed above. It is possible that the more in-U.S. Chinese students use Chinese social media to consume U.S. information, the more they find the information is not in conformity with the real U.S. situation they experience. Further research is required to validate this relationship and support this reasoning.

Among the U.S. social media platforms, Twitter and YouTube are viewed as the most credible for consuming U.S. COVID-19 information, and this is consistent with the findings regarding the dependency levels. Instagram has the lowest credibility scores as well as media dependency scores, which can be explained by its priority in photo sharing, rather than the distribution of serious news. The finding that Facebook is not among the

most credible media platforms among the respondents contradicts previous studies, which argue that people tend to place more confidence in bidirectional connected and familiar people on social networking sites like Facebook (Johnson & Kaye, 2015). This can probably be explained by the fact that the respondents are in-U.S. Chinese students who do not have deep connections with U.S. native friends on Facebook.

Meanwhile, it is interesting to note that Instagram has the highest credibility score among U.S. social media for consuming Chinese information. This may be due to the sampling error and the inadequate sample size (n = 16), but on the other hand, there may be several reasons related to the affordances of Instagram. First, Instagram posts cannot be forwarded, which makes it hard to spread misinformation about the Chinese COVID-19 situation. Secondly, Instagram mainly targets people who are interested in the lifestyle and fashion rather than serious news, let alone Chinese news. In this sense, the respondents who choose to consume Chinese COVID-19 information on Instagram might have found some credible sources on it, such as Chinese official news media accounts like China Daily (@chinadailynews) and China Central Television(@cctv).

In addition, the study also compares Chinese information sources in terms of their differences in dependency and credibility levels for consuming Chinese COVID-19 information. As expected, the study found that in-U.S. Chinese students depend most heavily on the Chinese government and mainstream news media sources on social media than on other sources to consume Chinese COVID-19 information. In situations like this pandemic, the government and mainstream news media are the major information outlets, as they have the ability to count case numbers and connect with experts. In this, they are

uniquely positioned to release authoritative information. However, contrary to the hypothesis, in-U.S. Chinese college students considered the Chinese government and mainstream news media sources as the most credible for consuming Chinese COVID-19 information. The source of friends and connected people on Chinese social media, on the other hand, was considered the least credible, which may be explained by the fact that rumors about the pandemic are usually spread among close contacts (Alam et al., 2020; Pulido et al., 2020). The high credibility of Chinese official sources can be derived from their high reputation among Chinese students, as previous studies have found source reputation to be a key determinant of credibility (Sundar, 2008). The relatively short time they have stayed in the U.S. could also help to explain this finding. As the respondents still frequently use and depend on Chinese social media – WeChat and Weibo – they shave for the most part, avoided exposure to the critical tone of U.S. media towards the Chinese government's handling of the pandemic. The comparison between the worsening U.S. COVID-19 situation and the better Chinese COVID-19 situation may also increase the respondents' perception of the credibility of the Chinese government source. This may be especially true for in-U.S. Chinese students who are suffering from the uncontrollable spread of the epidemic in the U.S. Furthermore, as people have the freedom to choose the information sources they prefer on social media, the respondents who choose to obtain information from the Chinese government and mainstream news media sources are highly likely the ones who already perceive these sources to be credible.

Thirdly, in examining the relationship between dependency and credibility levels,

two groups of hierarchical regressions significantly indicate that media dependency scores are positively associated with and are the strongest predictors of credibility levels across both social media platforms and information sources. This result is in line with previous studies on social media and other online platforms and sources (Johnson & Kaye, 2004, 2014). Despite the spread of misinformation on social media and the government's unresponsiveness at the beginning stage of the pandemic, users still have the freedom to choose to depend on the platforms and sources they regard as credible. With the consistency of dependency and perceived credibility levels, in-U.S. Chinese students obtain the information they trust and try to avoid the "infodemic." High perceived credibility levels of media and information sources could help users understand the situation and direct further actions (McKnight & Kacmar, 2006), which is particularly important in this kind of public health crisis (Lyu, 2012; Pulido et al., 2020). In-U.S. Chinese students could be armed with the information and knowledge about disease prevention measures to keep healthy and make reasonable decisions about their further studying and working plans. This can reflect one strength of social media, which is the freedom for people to choose the information sources they want. However, the possible problem is that users tend to seek out attitude-consistent information so that they are exposed to homogenized information, as indicated by the selective exposure theory (Stroud, 2008). Actively avoiding attitude-challenging information and being presented with homogenized information by social media algorithms, users have only a slim chance to hear from sources they labeled "uncredible."

Theoretically, this study extends the Media-System Dependency theory to the

social media environment. With so many alternative sources to choose from, Chinese students still depend more on Chinese mainstream news media sources on social media when society is undergoing instability and information is strongly needed (Ball-Rokeach, 1985; Jackob, 2010). This study also contributes to the operationalization of dependency on social media by adapting from previous studies. Due to the limit of information depth and the purpose of information consumption on social media, the dependency level can be measured by the three items used in this study, including figuring out what is happening, deepening the understanding, and making decisions for action. These three items can establish good inter-item reliability for calculating the overall dependency index on almost all the social platforms and information sources on social media.

In studies exploring why users choose to consume information from different media platforms and news sources and assign them different credibility levels, most studies have employed the uses and gratifications theory (e.g., Abdulla et al., 2004; Go et al., 2016). In the online environment, users have greater control over what they would like to see, so that their motivations are important for understanding their using behaviors. Compared with general media use, which is measured in terms of time and frequency, media dependency level can also be a strong predictor of perceived credibility levels. This study has piloted in comparing the discrepancies of dependency and credibility levels among different social media platforms. For further investigation, some other perspectives can be explored to explain the differences, such as media repertoire theory (Yuan, 2011) and media affordances (Chung et al., 2012). For example, Fogg et al. (2003) and Sundar (2008) have found that the visual design elements and structural

features of websites can influence consumers' credibility assessment of information due to their selected attention and interpretation.

This study also has some practical implications for media outlets for both the current COVID-19 pandemic and other public health crises. With a large and growing number of overseas students in the U.S. (Institute of International Education, 2020), the institutions, such as schools and the Centers for Disease Control, should pay more attention to properly inform and convince overseas students to learn more about the virus and take the corresponding action. These U.S. institutions would be advised to spend more effort on WeChat, Weibo, and YouTube, which have higher dependency and perceived credibility levels, to provide in-U.S. Chinese students with U.S. information and help them manage their living problems in the U.S. They could also cooperate more with the social media accounts of the Chinese government and mainstream news media, based on the results of this study. The Chinese government and mainstream news media should take advantage of their social media counterparts' high dependency and credibility levels to inform in-U.S. Chinese students about the Chinese situation, especially on WeChat. Although it would also be useful to advocate and promote pandemic information across all U.S. platforms, Instagram, with high dependency and credibility levels for Chinese information, could be considered to be a better platform to inform in-U.S. Chinese students of Chinese information.

This study has several limitations. In particular, the sample size of this study is small, and the sample sizes of each information source and social media platform are different. This results in the impossibility of testing whether dependence on another

medium or source can influence the perceived credibility of a certain medium or source. The convenience sample also lacks in its representativeness for all in-U.S. Chinese college students. Although online surveys have been widely used to investigate internet users' intentions and behaviors, it still suffers from the risk of self-reported and recall errors. In the following studies, the sample size should be increased to gain a more comprehensive understanding of media dependency and media credibility. The respondents should be asked about their more recent social media use and attitudes to strengthen the survey results.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 2019 WeChat Data Report. (2020, January 9). Weixin Official Accounts Platform.
 http://mp.weixin.qq.com/s?__biz=MjM5NjM4MDAxMg==&mid=2655084175
 &idx=1&sn=a9a6250a05c0c47437839598dbe36946&chksm=bd5fd28c8a285b9
 ae8f7de6f05f66f8b363fddecea02bf361dedc811c839b03347c9bdf6686b#rd
- Abdulla, R. A., Garrison, B., Salwen, M. B., Driscoll, P. D., & Casey, D. (2004).

 Online news credibility. In M. B. Salwen, B. Garrison, & P. D. Driscoll (Eds.),

 Online News and the Public (pp. 148–163). Routledge.
- Alam, F., Dalvi, F., Shaar, S., Durrani, N., Mubarak, H., Nikolov, A., Martino, G. D. S., Abdelali, A., Sajjad, H., Darwish, K., & Nakov, P. (2020). Fighting the COVID-19 Infodemic in Social Media: A Holistic Perspective and a Call to Arms.

 *ArXiv:2007.07996 [Cs]. http://arxiv.org/abs/2007.07996
- Ball-Rokeach, Sandra J. (1998). A Theory of Media Power and a Theory of Media Use:

 Different Stories, Questions, and Ways of Thinking. *Mass Communication and Society*, *I*(1–2), 5–40. https://doi.org/10.1080/15205436.1998.9676398
- Ball-Rokeach, S.J. (1985). The Origins of Individual Media-System Dependency: A Sociological Framework. *Communication Research*, *12*(4), 485–510. https://doi.org/10.1177/009365085012004003
- Ball-Rokeach, S.J., & DeFleur, M. L. (1976). A Dependency Model of Mass-Media Effects. *Communication Research*, *3*(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1177/009365027600300101

- Banning, S. A., & Sweetser, K. D. (2007). How Much Do They Think It Affects Them and Whom Do They Believe?: Comparing the Third-Person Effect and Credibility of Blogs and Traditional Media. *Communication Quarterly*, *55*(4), 451–466. https://doi.org/10.1080/01463370701665114
- Bucy, E. P. (2003). Media Credibility Reconsidered: Synergy Effects between On-Air and Online News. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 80(2), 247–264. https://doi.org/10.1177/107769900308000202
- Center for the Digital Future. (2011). *The 2011 Digital Future Report*. https://www.digitalcenter.org/
- Chen, D. (2020, March 27). China's coronavirus response could build public support for its government. Washington Post.
 https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2020/03/27/chinas-coronavirus-response-could-build-public-support-its-government/
- China Internet Network Information Center [CNNIC]. (2017). 2016 Chinese Social

 Media Users' Behavior Research Report.

 http://www.cnnic.net.cn/hlwfzyj/hlwxzbg/sqbg/201712/P020180103485975797

 840.pdf
- Chung, C. J., Nam, Y., & Stefanone, M. A. (2012). Exploring Online News Credibility:

 The Relative Influence of Traditional and Technological Factors. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 17(2), 171–186.

 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1083-6101.2011.01565.x

- De Choudhury, M., Morris, M. R., & White, R. W. (2014). Seeking and sharing health information online: Comparing search engines and social media. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 1365–1376. https://doi.org/10.1145/2556288.2557214
- Deley, T., & Dubois, E. (2020). Assessing Trust Versus Reliance for Technology

 Platforms by Systematic Literature Review. *Social Media + Society*, 6(2).

 https://doi.org/10.1177/2056305120913883
- Flanagin, A. J., & Metzger, M. J. (2000). Perceptions of Internet Information

 Credibility. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 77(3), 515–540.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/107769900007700304
- Fletcher, R., & Park, S. (2017). The Impact of Trust in the News Media on Online

 News Consumption and Participation. *Digital Journalism*, *5*(10), 1281–1299.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/21670811.2017.1279979
- Fogg, B. J., Soohoo, C., Danielson, D. R., Marable, L., Stanford, J., & Tauber, E. R. (2003). How do users evaluate the credibility of Web sites? A study with over 2,500 participants. *Proceedings of the 2003 Conference on Designing for User Experiences*, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1145/997078.997097
- Fogg, B. J., & Tseng, H. (1999). The elements of computer credibility. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1145/302979.303001
- Forbush, E., & Foucault-Welles, B. (2016). Social media use and adaptation among Chinese students beginning to study in the United States. *International Journal*

- of Intercultural Relations, 50, 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2015.10.007
- Gaziano, C., & McGrath, K. (1986). Measuring the Concept of Credibility. *Journalism Quarterly*, 63(3), 451–462. https://doi.org/10.1177/107769908606300301
- Go, E., You, K. H., Jung, E., & Shim, H. (2016). Why do we use different types of websites and assign them different levels of credibility? Structural relations among users' motives, types of websites, information credibility, and trust in the press. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 54, 231–239.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.07.046
- Greer, J. D. (2003). Evaluating the Credibility of Online Information: A Test of Source and Advertising Influence. *Mass Communication and Society*, *6*(1), 11–28. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327825MCS0601 3
- Halpern, D., Valenzuela, S., & Katz, J. E. (2017). We Face, I Tweet: How Different Social Media Influence Political Participation through Collective and Internal Efficacy. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 22(6), 320–336. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12198
- Hamid, S., Bukhari, S., Ravana, S. D., Norman, A. A., & Ijab, M. T. (2016). Role of social media in information-seeking behaviour of international students: A systematic literature review. *Aslib Journal of Information Management*, 68(5), 643–666. https://doi.org/10.1108/AJIM-03-2016-0031
- Hovland, C. I., Janis, I. L., & Kelley, H. H. (1953). *Communication and persuasion*. Yale University Press.

- Institute of International Education. (2020). 2020 Fast facts international students in the United States. https://opendoorsdata.org/annual-release/
- Jackob, N. G. E. (2010). No Alternatives? The Relationship Between Perceived Media Dependency, Use of Alternative Information Sources, and General Trust in Mass Media. *International Journal of Communication*, 4, 18.
- Jiang, J., & Ouyang, N. (2008). New Media Use During the 5/12 Sichuan Earthquake.Media Asia, 35(3), 148–151. https://doi.org/10.1080/01296612.2008.11726877
- Johnson, T. J., & Kaye, B. K. (1998). Cruising is Believing?: Comparing Internet and Traditional Sources on Media Credibility Measures. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 75(2), 325–340. https://doi.org/10.1177/107769909807500208
- Johnson, T. J., & Kaye, B. K. (2000). Using Is Believing: The Influence of Reliance on the Credibility of Online Political Information among Politically Interested

 Internet Users. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 77(4), 865–879.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/107769900007700409
- Johnson, T. J., & Kaye, B. K. (2002). Webelievability: A Path Model Examining How

 Convenience and Reliance Predict Online Credibility. *Journalism & Mass*Communication Quarterly, 79(3), 619–642.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/107769900207900306
- Johnson, T. J., & Kaye, B. K. (2004). Wag the Blog: How Reliance on Traditional Media and the Internet Influence Credibility Perceptions of Weblogs Among

- Blog Users. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, *81*(3), 622–642. https://doi.org/10.1177/107769900408100310
- Johnson, T. J., & Kaye, B. K. (2010). Choosing Is Believing? How Web Gratifications and Reliance Affect Internet Credibility Among Politically Interested Users.

 *Atlantic Journal of Communication, 18(1), 1–21.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15456870903340431
- Johnson, T. J., & Kaye, B. K. (2014). Credibility of Social Network Sites for Political Information Among Politically Interested Internet Users. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 19(4), 957–974. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12084
- Johnson, T. J., & Kaye, B. K. (2015). Reasons to believe: Influence of credibility on motivations for using social networks. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *50*, 544–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.04.002
- Johnson, T. J., & Kaye, B. K. (2016). Some like it lots: The influence of interactivity and reliance on credibility. *Computers in Human Behavior*, *61*, 136–145. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2016.03.012
- Kang, B., Höllerer, T., & O'Donovan, J. (2015). Believe it or Not? Analyzing
 Information Credibility in Microblogs. Proceedings of the 2015 IEEE/ACM
 International Conference on Advances in Social Networks Analysis and Mining
 2015, 611–616. https://doi.org/10.1145/2808797.2809379
- Kaye, B. K., & Johnson, T. J. (2017). Strengthening the Core: Examining Interactivity, Credibility, and Reliance as Measures of Social Media Use. *Electronic News*, 11(3), 145–165. https://doi.org/10.1177/1931243116672262

- Kim, Y.-C., & Jung, J.-Y. (2017). SNS dependency and interpersonal storytelling: An extension of media system dependency theory. *New Media & Society*, *19*(9), 1458–1475. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444816636611
- Kim, Y.-C., Jung, J.-Y., Cohen, E. L., & Ball-Rokeach, S. J. (2004). Internet connectedness before and after September 11 2001. New Media & Society, 6(5), 611–631. https://doi.org/10.1177/146144804047083
- Kim, Y.-C., Shin, E., Cho, A., Jung, E., Shon, K., & Shim, H. (2019). SNS Dependency and Community Engagement in Urban Neighborhoods: The Moderating Role of Integrated Connectedness to a Community Storytelling Network.
 Communication Research, 46(1), 7–32.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650215588786
- Kiousis, S. (2001). Public Trust or Mistrust? Perceptions of Media Credibility in the Information Age. *Mass Communication and Society*, *4*(4), 381–403. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327825MCS0404_4
- Li, R., & Suh, A. (2015). Factors Influencing Information credibility on Social Media

 Platforms: Evidence from Facebook Pages. *Procedia Computer Science*, 72,

 314–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2015.12.146
- Li, Y., Wang, X., Lin, X., & Hajli, M. (2018). Seeking and sharing health information on social media: A net valence model and cross-cultural comparison.
 Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 126, 28–40.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techfore.2016.07.021

- Lyu, J. C. (2012). How young Chinese depend on the media during public health crises?

 A comparative perspective. *Public Relations Review*, *38*(5), 799–806.

 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2012.07.006
- Lyu, J. C. (2019). Has the Internet Won the Hearts of Chinese College Students? A Comparative and Communication Medium Dependency Approach. *China Media Research*, 15(2), 91–101.
- Mackay, J. B., & Lowrey, W. (2011). The credibility divide: Reader trust of online newspapers and blogs. *Journal of Media Sociology*, *3*(1–4), 39–57.
- Maxian, W. (2014). Power to the People? Emotional Components of Media Power,

 Mobile ICTs, and Their Potential to Alter Individual-Media Dependency

 Relations. *Mass Communication and Society*, 17(2), 274–298.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/15205436.2013.830133
- McKnight, H., & Kacmar, C. (2006). Factors of Information Credibility for an Internet

 Advice Site. *Proceedings of the 39th Annual Hawaii International Conference*on System Sciences (HICSS'06), 6, 113b–113b.

 https://doi.org/10.1109/HICSS.2006.181
- Metzger, M. J., & Flanagin, A. J. (2013). Credibility and trust of information in online environments: The use of cognitive heuristics. *Journal of Pragmatics*, *59*, 210–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pragma.2013.07.012
- Metzger, M. J., Flanagin, A. J., Eyal, K., Lemus, D. R., & Mccann, R. M. (2003).

 Credibility for the 21st Century: Integrating Perspectives on Source, Message, and Media Credibility in the Contemporary Media Environment. *Annals of the*

- International Communication Association, 27(1), 293–335. https://doi.org/10.1080/23808985.2003.11679029
- Metzger, M. J., Flanagin, A. J., & Medders, R. B. (2010). Social and Heuristic

 Approaches to Credibility Evaluation Online. *Journal of Communication*, 60(3),
 413–439. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-2466.2010.01488.x
- Meyer, P. (1988). Defining and Measuring Credibility of Newspapers: Developing an Index: *Journalism Quarterly*, 65(3), 567–574. https://doi.org/10.1177/107769908806500301
- Ministry of Education of the People's Republic of China. (2020, December 14).

 Statistics of Students Studying Abroad in 2019.

 http://www.moe.gov.cn/jyb_xwfb/gzdt_gzdt/s5987/202012/t20201214_505447.

 html
- Morris, M. R., Counts, S., Roseway, A., Hoff, A., & Schwarz, J. (2012). Tweeting is believing? Understanding microblog credibility perceptions. *Proceedings of the ACM 2012 Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work*, 441–450. https://doi.org/10.1145/2145204.2145274
- Ognyanova, K., & Ball-Rokeach, S. J. (2015). Political Efficacy on the Internet: A

 Media System Dependency Approach. In *Communication and Information Technologies Annual* (Vol. 9, pp. 3–27). Emerald Group Publishing Limited.

 https://doi.org/10.1108/S2050-206020150000009001
- Passe, J., Drake, C., & Mayger, L. (2018). Homophily, echo chambers, & selective exposure in social networks: What should civic educators do? *The Journal of*

- Social Studies Research, 42(3), 261–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jssr.2017.08.001
- Pennycook, G., McPhetres, J., Zhang, Y., Lu, J. G., & Rand, D. G. (2020). Fighting COVID-19 Misinformation on Social Media: Experimental Evidence for a Scalable Accuracy-Nudge Intervention. *Psychological Science*, *31*(7), 770–780. https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797620939054
- Pew Research Center. (2005, June 26). Public More Critical of Press, But Goodwill

 Persists. Pew Research Center U.S. Politics & Policy.

 https://www.pewresearch.org/politics/2005/06/26/public-more-critical-of-press-but-goodwill-persists/
- Pulido, C. M., Ruiz-Eugenio, L., Redondo-Sama, G., & Villarejo-Carballido, B. (2020).
 A New Application of Social Impact in Social Media for Overcoming Fake
 News in Health. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(7), 2430. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17072430
- Pulido, C. M., Villarejo-Carballido, B., Redondo-Sama, G., & Gómez, A. (2020).
 COVID-19 infodemic: More retweets for science-based information on coronavirus than for false information. *International Sociology*, 35(4), 377–392.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/0268580920914755
- Rodríguez, C. P., Carballido, B. V., Redondo-Sama, G., Guo, M., Ramis, M., & Flecha,
 R. (2020). False news around COVID-19 circulated less on Sina Weibo than on
 Twitter. How to overcome false information? *International and Multidisciplinary Journal of Social Sciences*, 9(2), 107–128.

- https://doi.org/10.17583/rimcis.2020.5386
- Rui, J. R., & Wang, H. (2015). Social network sites and international students' cross-cultural adaptation. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 49, 400–411. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2015.03.041
- Schmierbach, M., & Oeldorf-Hirsch, A. (2012). A Little Bird Told Me, So I Didn't Believe It: Twitter, Credibility, and Issue Perceptions. *Communication Quarterly*, 60(3), 317–337. https://doi.org/10.1080/01463373.2012.688723
- Scoble, R., & Israel, S. (2006). Naked Conversations: How Blogs are Changing the Way Businesses Talk with Customers. Wiley.
- Shearer, E., & Grieco, E. (2019, October 2). Americans Are Wary of the Role Social Media Sites Play in Delivering the News. *Pew Research Center's Journalism Project*. https://www.journalism.org/2019/10/02/americans-are-wary-of-the-role-social-media-sites-play-in-delivering-the-news/
- Shearer, E., & Matsa, K. E. (2018, September 10). News Use Across Social Media

 Platforms 2018. Pew Research Center's Journalism Project.

 https://www.journalism.org/2018/09/10/news-use-across-social-media-platforms-2018/
- Stavrositu, C., & Sundar, S. S. (2008). If Internet Credibility Is So Iffy, Why the Heavy
 Use? The Relationship between Medium Use and Credibility. *CyberPsychology*& *Behavior*, 11(1), 65–68. https://doi.org/10.1089/cpb.2007.9933
- Stocking, G., Kessel, P. van, Barthel, M., Matsa, K. E., & Khuzam, M. (2020, September 28). Many Americans Get News on YouTube, Where News

- Organizations and Independent Producers Thrive Side by Side. *Pew Research Center's Journalism Project*. https://www.journalism.org/2020/09/28/many-americans-get-news-on-youtube-where-news-organizations-and-independent-producers-thrive-side-by-side/
- Stroud, N. J. (2008). Media Use and Political Predispositions: Revisiting the Concept of Selective Exposure. *Political Behavior*, *30*(3), 341–366. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11109-007-9050-9
- Strömbäck, J., Tsfati, Y., Boomgaarden, H., Damstra, A., Lindgren, E., Vliegenthart, R., & Lindholm, T. (2020). News media trust and its impact on media use:

 Toward a framework for future research. *Annals of the International Communication Association*, 44(2), 139–156.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/23808985.2020.1755338
- Sun, T., Chang, T.-K., & Yu, G. (2001). Social Structure, Media System, and Audiences in China: Testing the Uses and Dependency Model. *Mass Communication and Society*, 4(2), 199–217. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327825MCS0402_05
- Sundar, S. S. (2008). The MAIN Model: A Heuristic Approach to Understanding

 Technology Effects on Credibility. In *Digital Media, Youth, and Credibility* (pp. 73–100). The MIT Press. 10.1162/dmal.9780262562324.073
- Tai, Z., & Sun, T. (2007). Media dependencies in a changing media environment: The case of the 2003 SARS epidemic in China. *New Media & Society*, 9(6), 987–1009. https://doi.org/10.1177/1461444807082691

- The State Information Center, & Nanjing University Computer-mediated

 Communication Research Center. (2020). Public Cognition and Information

 Dissemination about the Coronavirus Research Report.

 https://mp.weixin.qq.com/s/fris8JegwTG21PryG_YDFg
- Tsfati, Y., & Ariely, G. (2014). Individual and Contextual Correlates of Trust in Media

 Across 44 Countries. *Communication Research*, 41(6), 760–782.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650213485972
- Turcotte, J., York, C., Irving, J., Scholl, R. M., & Pingree, R. J. (2015). News

 Recommendations from Social Media Opinion Leaders: Effects on Media Trust and Information Seeking. *Journal of Computer-Mediated Communication*, 20(5), 520–535. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcc4.12127
- Viviani, M., & Pasi, G. (2017). Credibility in social media: Opinions, news, and health information—a survey. *WIREs Data Mining and Knowledge Discovery*, 7(5), e1209. https://doi.org/10.1002/widm.1209
- Wang, H., Cleary, P. D., Little, J., & Auffray, C. (2020). Communicating in a public health crisis. *The Lancet Digital Health*, 2(10), e503. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2589-7500(20)30197-7
- Weibo 2020 Fiscal First-quarter Results Published. (2020, May 19). Sina Finance. https://finance.sina.com.cn/stock/usstock/c/2020-05-19/docircuyvi3942770.shtml
- Westerman, D., Spence, P. R., & Van Der Heide, B. (2012). A social network as information: The effect of system generated reports of connectedness on

- credibility on Twitter. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 28(1), 199–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2011.09.001
- Wong, E., Rosenberg, M., & Barnes, J. E. (2020, April 22). Chinese Agents Helped Spread Messages That Sowed Virus Panic in U.S., Officials Say. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/04/22/us/politics/coronavirus-chinadisinformation.html
- World Health Organization. (n.d.). *Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) Pandemic*.

 Retrieved October 28, 2020, from

 https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novel-coronavirus-2019
- Yang, D. L. (2020, March 10). Wuhan officials tried to cover up covid-19—And sent it careening outward. Washington Post.
 https://www.washingtonpost.com/politics/2020/03/10/wuhan-officials-tried-cover-up-covid-19-sent-it-careening-outward/
- Yang, J., Counts, S., Morris, M. R., & Hoff, A. (2013). Microblog credibility perceptions: Comparing the USA and China. *Proceedings of the 2013 Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work*, 575–586.
 https://doi.org/10.1145/2441776.2441841
- Yang, K.-C., Torres-Lugo, C., & Menczer, F. (2020). Prevalence of Low-Credibility Information on Twitter During the COVID-19 Outbreak. *ArXiv:2004.14484* [Cs]. https://doi.org/10.36190/2020.16

- Yuan, L. (2020, February 14). Coronavirus Crisis Shows China's Governance Failure. *The New York Times*. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/02/04/business/chinacoronavirus-government.html
- Zhang, J., & Zhang, R. (2020). COVID-19 in China: Power, Transparency and Governance in Public Health Crisis. *Healthcare*, 8(3), 288. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare8030288
- Zhang, Y., & Guo, L. (2019). 'A battlefield for public opinion struggle': How does news consumption from different sources on social media influence government satisfaction in China? *Information, Communication & Society*, 0(0), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/1369118X.2019.1662073
- Zhou, C. (2020, May 26). China closes WeChat account in crackdown on anti-American fake news. *South China Morning Post*. https://www.scmp.com/economy/china-economy/article/3086073/china-shuts-down-wechat-social-media-account-claiming-us

CURRICULUM VITAE







